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I. INTRODUCTION

This formal Complaint (“Complaint”) against the utility, Philadelphia Gas Works (“PGW” or “Respondent” or “Company”) concerns a natural gas leak and explosion which occurred in the Tacony section of Philadelphia on January 18, 2011.  A PGW employee lost his life, and five other employees were injured.  A two-story row home at 6932 Torresdale Avenue, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania (“Subject Property”) was destroyed by the natural gas explosion.  This home housed a chiropractic office on the first floor and two apartments on the second floor.  In addition to the destruction of the row home, surrounding properties and six vehicles were damaged.

The parties to this proceeding have reached an agreement to settle this Complaint.  The terms of the agreement are set forth in a joint settlement petition.  This Initial Decision approves the joint settlement petition.

II. HISTORY OF THE PROCEEDINGS

On December 15, 2011, Johnnie E. Simms, Esquire, Chief Prosecutor of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission’s (“Commission” or “PUC”) Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement (“I&E” or “Complainant”),
 filed a Complaint
 against PGW for events that took place on January 18, 2011, regarding a natural gas explosion at a two-story row home located on the corner lot at 6932 Torresdale Avenue, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.  The Complaint alleged that a gas explosion occurred when natural gas migrating from a ruptured 12-inch cast iron underground main near the intersection of Torresdale Avenue and Disston Street in Philadelphia came in contact with an ignition source in the basement of the row home.  The Complaint alleged 334 counts against PGW in violation of various statutory requirements for a public utility to provide gas service in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.  The Complaint averred that the natural gas explosion occurred at or about 8:35 pm on January 18, 2011. 
The Complaint alleged that PGW violated the Public Utility Code, Commission regulations and federal regulations, in the following ways:

a. Count 1 – PGW failed to maintain an adequate exposed main condition report for the damaged pipe; that is, the Company failed to record details of each inspection performed on the pipe in sufficient detail.  Details of graphitization, coating disbondment, pitting, cathodic potential reads, etc. were not recorded on the inspection form to show what PGW inspected in violation of 49 CFR § 192.491(c).  
b. Count 2 – PGW failed to demonstrate in detail the adequacy of corrosion control measures for the pipe at issue; that is PGW’s then current procedure for its exposed main condition report only reports “satisfactory” or “unsatisfactory” which fails to provide sufficient detail to demonstrate the adequacy of corrosion control measures for the pipe in question.  This is a violation of 49 CFR § 192.605(b)(2) with respect to 


      § 192.491(c).

c. Counts 3-5 – PGW failed to take required steps to minimize the danger of accidental ignition of gas in an area where the presence of gas constituted a hazard of fire or explosion and failed to comply with Bulletin 212 of the Company’s manual of written procedures, Leak Response and Investigation Procedure, as the Company used drill bits prone to sparking while attempting to ventilate the street above the cracked main although its procedure states that PGW must eliminate ignition sources during gas emergencies.  By performing the ventilation with material that could spark, the Company failed to reasonably protect the public from danger in violation of 49 CFR § 192.751(a), 49 CFR § 192.605(a) and 52 Pa.Code 
§ 59.33.

d. Counts 6-8 – PGW failed to take required steps to minimize the danger of accidental ignition of gas in an area where the presence of gas constituted a hazard of fire or explosion and failed to comply with Bulletin 212 of the Company’s manual of written procedures, Leak Response and Investigation Procedure, as the Company failed to contact the relevant electric supply utility, PECO Energy Company, to shut off electric supply to the affected area although its procedure stated that PGW must eliminate ignition sources during gas emergencies and by so doing failed to reasonably protect the public from danger in violation of 49 CFR § 192.751(a), 49 CFR § 192.605(a) and 52 Pa.Code § 59.33.

e. Counts 9-14 – PGW failed to comply with its emergency procedures that require actions be directed to protect people first and then property in that four employees each acting under the scope of employment, entered the Subject Property after detecting gas readings greater than 40% LEL (“Lower Explosive Limit”) inside the property and after the Philadelphia Fire Department (“PFD”) evacuated the building.  Although one employee knew of the gas readings, this information was not communicated to two other employees and they were permitted to enter the building although the PFD had already evacuated the building.  This is a violation of 49 CFR § 192.615(a)(5), and 49 CFR § 192.605(a), with respect to Section 192.615(a)(5).    

f. Counts 15-20 – Regarding two PGW employees, the Company failed in two separate actions to comply with its emergency procedures that require action be directed toward protecting lives first and then property.  The two employees each acting in the scope of their employment, put themselves in danger by remaining in the building, operating the meter valve inside the building and ventilating the building by opening windows after they detected 70% LEL in the basement of the building.  Effective communication failed to occur between these employees and their supervisor who was aware of the reading above 40% LEL yet permitted the two employees to enter the building although their supervisor knew PFD had evacuated the building.  These two employees still working under the scope of their employment re-entered the Subject Property after obtaining readings of 80% gas at the second floor exterior doorway.  These employees endangered themselves by entering the Subject Property with readings above 40% LEL and opening windows to ventilate the building.  Each action constitutes a violation of 49 CFR § 192.605(a) and 49 CFR 
§ 192.615(a)(5).

g. Counts 21-22 – PGW violated Bulletin 212, Leak Response and Investigation Procedure, since outside leak investigation requires exchanging information with PGW employees already on location.  In the instant case, PGW did not effectively communicate among its distribution divisions.  There were discrepancies, based on Gas Safety Inspector interviews in the communication between two employees regarding the 70% LEL reading.  These circumstances increased danger to the public and constitute a violation of 49 CFR § 192.605(a) and 52 Pa.Code § 59.33.

h. Counts 23-24 – PGW’s written procedures for emergency plans were deficient because they did not require prompt and effective response by Pressure Force to the instant matter, resulting in a delay in the operation of the main line valves necessary to reduce pressure in the failed main.  This is a violation of 49 CFR §§ 192.615(a)(3)(i) and (a)(6).

i. Counts 25-26 – PGW failed to follow procedures in its Foreman’s Handbook when it failed to use shoring, make available or ready for use a fire extinguisher, and an employee failed to wear a hard hat, all while working in an excavated trench at the southeast corner of Torresdale Avenue and Disston Street.  This is a violation of 49 CFR §§ 192.605(a) and (b)(9).

j. Counts 27-32 – PGW failed to establish written procedures to minimize the hazard from a pipeline emergency and failed to reasonably protect the public from danger because PGW Bulletin 212, Leak Response and Investigation Procedure, Section III.B.2, fails to include explicit provisions in the procedures to contact the Company’s electric supplier to shut off electric supply to the affected area during a gas emergency.  This is a violation of 49 CFR §§ 192.615(a)(5), (7) and (8), 49 CFR §§ 192.615(c)(3) and (4), and 52 Pa.Code § 59.33.

k. Counts 33-35 – PGW’s written procedures for emergency plans are deficient because PGW Bulletin 212, Leak Response and Investigation Procedure, fails to include explicit requirements that PGW employees first detect gas readings at doorways, foundations, windows, or other structure openings prior to entering a building during an outside leak investigation.  In Section III.B.3 of the evacuation procedure, employees are told to evacuate and ventilate at the same time.  PGW Bulletin 258, Laminated Reference Card to be Used When Responding to an Emergency, does not protect people first because it does not require that evacuation take priority over ventilation.  This is a violation of 49 CFR §§ 192.615(a)(5) and (7) and 52 Pa.Code 
§ 59.33.

l. Counts 36-37 – PGW Bulletin 63, Notification Procedure of a Potential Emergency Involving a Pressure Operation, was deficient because the procedure only required Pressure Force to be notified and dispatched in the event of a leak on a 35 psig or higher main or service.  There was no written procedure for emergency pipeline pressure reduction under 35 psig but greater than inches water column.  This is a violation of 49 CFR §§ 192.615(a)(6) and (a)(7).

m. Counts 38-41 – PGW failed to adequately protect the public because the Company did not have a written procedure included in its emergency response plan regarding how to recognize a controllable and non-controllable incident and the necessary actions to be taken.  This is a violation of 49 CFR 
§§ 192.615(a)(1), (3)(i) and (5) and 52 Pa.Code § 59.33.

n. Count 42 – PGW did not have a written procedure that required a PGW liaison to maintain constant communication with the Commission Gas Safety Inspectors on site during a reportable incident investigation.  This is a violation of 49 CFR 
§ 192.615(a)(2).

o. Counts 43-44 – PGW failed to adequately protect its employees and the general public because the Company did not have a written procedure to establish a safety perimeter for leak investigations and emergency response.  This is a violation of 49 CFR § 192.615(a)(5) and 52 Pa.Code § 59.33.

p. Counts 45-46 – PGW failed to adequately protect the public because the Company did not have a written procedure that established minimum training criteria and operator qualification for work crew members that respond to emergency situations.  This is a violation of 49 CFR 
§ 192.615(b)(2) and 52 Pa.Code § 59.33.

q. Counts 47-48 – PGW failed to maintain valve inspection reports and/or records for Valve No. 788 for calendar years 2007 and 2008.  This is a multiple violation of 49 CFR 
§ 192.603(b).

r. Counts 49-50 – PGW failed to prepare and/or follow written maintenance procedures for remediation of Valve No. 788 when the valve was found to be inoperable upon inspection by the Company on July 30, 2010, and February 25, 2011.  This is a multiple violation of 49 CFR § 192.605(b)(1).

s. Counts 51-52 – PGW failed to service Valve No. 788 at least once each calendar year when that valve was found to be inoperable upon inspection by the Company on July 30, 2010 and February 25, 2011.  This is a multiple violation of 49 CFR § 192.747(a).
t. Counts 53-224 – PGW failed to take prompt remedial action to correct Valve No. 788 or to designate an alternative valve when that valve was found to be inoperable upon inspection by the Company on July 30, 2010, and continued to be inoperable for 172 days up to and including the day of the explosion, January 18, 2011, and beyond.  Each day consisted of a separate violation.  This is a multiple violation of 49 CFR 
§ 192.747(b).

u. Counts 225-227 – PGW failed to have and/or follow a written qualification program because the Company failed to ensure that each crew member was qualified to perform the covered task, when in fact, one crew member was not qualified to perform the task nor was he directed and observed by an individual that was qualified to perform the task and, in so doing, failed to adequately protect the public.  This is a violation of 49 CFR §§ 192.805(b) and (c) and 52 Pa.Code 
§ 59.33.

v. Counts 228-229 – PGW failed to train a crew member who was a Distribution employee to assure that he was knowledgeable of emergency procedures and to verify that the training was effective.  In so doing, PGW failed to adequately protect the public.  This is a violation of 49 CFR § 192.615(b)(2) and 52 Pa.Code § 59.33.

w. Counts 230-264 – PGW failed to conduct post-accident drug testing of 35 PGW employees who were on site and who could not be completely discounted as contributing factors to the incident.  The failure to test each of the employees constitutes a separate violation.  This is a multiple violation of 49 CFR 
§ 199.105(b).

x. Counts 265-299 – PGW failed to conduct post-accident alcohol testing of 35 PGW employees who were on site and who could not be completely discounted as contributing factors to the incident.  The failure to test each of the employees constitutes a separate violation.  This is a multiple violation of 49 CFR 
§ 199.225(a)(1).

y. Counts 300-334 – PGW failed to prepare and maintain on file a record stating the reasons the post-accident testing was not promptly administered on any of the 35 employees who were on site and who could not be completely discounted as contributing factors to the incident.  The failure to prepare and maintain such records on each of the employees constitutes a separate violation.  This is a multiple violation of 49 CFR 
§ 199.225(a)(2).

I&E requested, among other things, that the Commission find PGW in violation of each of the 334 counts listed.  I&E noted that the resulting civil penalty of the 334 counts would be $3,340,000 from enforcement of the maximum penalty by state law for each count but that amount would exceed the maximum state civil penalty of $500,000 for any series of violations pursuant to 66 Pa.C.S. § 3301(c).  Thus, I&E requested the Commission to assess the maximum civil penalty allowed by law, which is the maximum state civil penalty of $500,000 for any series of violations pursuant to 66 Pa.C.S. § 3301(c).  I&E also requested a caveat to the civil penalty be that no portion of the $500,000 penalty be recovered through the Company’s rates regulated by the Commission.  I&E also requested that PGW perform remedial training, re-qualify PGW workers, document and re-document PGW procedures as well as any further relief that the Commission deemed appropriate.   
By Petition dated December 19, 2011, Daniel Clearfield, Esquire, counsel for PGW, confirmed receipt of the Complaint that was served on December 16, 2011, and requested more time than the 20 days pursuant to Commission regulations at 52 Pa.Code § 5.61 to file an Answer to the Complaint.  The Answer was due on January 5, 2012, pursuant to 52 Pa.Code § 5.61.  PGW proposed that the Answer to the Complaint be due on or before February 6, 2012.
  

By letter dated December 21, 2011, the Secretary of the Commission, Rosemary Chiavetta, acknowledged the Petition for extension of time by PGW and stated that I&E did not object to the extension request.  Secretary Chiavetta confirmed that the Answer to the Complaint would be due on or before close of business on February 6, 2012.  

On February 6, 2012, PGW filed its Answer and New Matter to the Complaint.
  PGW acknowledged that the explosion and the resultant loss of life was a tragic incident but denied that it was caused by or involved any material violation of Commission regulations or statutes.  PGW addressed the counts claimed as violations to state or federal code, statute or policy.  PGW clarified some of the facts as articulated in the counts of the Complaint.  As to the substance of the allegations, PGW denied that its conduct in the incident amounted to violations of state or federal codes, statutes, regulations or policies.  
Specifically, PGW responded to the alleged counts against it as follows:

a. Count 1 – PGW denied that it violated 49 CFR § 192.419(c) because Company records indicate that the pipe in question had never been exposed at the failure location.  PGW therefore contended that no exposed main condition report was generated.  There was no test, survey, or inspection of the cast iron main in the immediate vicinity of the failed pipe section to require a record.  PGW contended that it complied fully with all applicable regulations concerning recording and maintaining main condition reports for the cast iron main and that the Company’s actions were consistent with applicable laws and regulations which did not cause or contribute to the leak and did not endanger the public.
b. Count 2 – PGW denied that it failed to maintain sufficient detail in its records to demonstrate the adequacy of corrosion control measures through the exposed main condition report.  PGW cites 49 CFR § 192.457(b) which expressly excluded cast iron mains and ductile iron mains from corrosion controls and contends that the CFR does not require detail in exposed main condition reports to demonstrate the adequacy of corrosion control measured for cast iron piping.  Consequently PGW contends that its actions were consistent with applicable laws and regulations which did not cause or contribute to the leak and did not endanger the public.

c. Counts 3-5 – PGW contended that the Company took all required steps through its procedures in compliance with applicable regulations to minimize the danger of accidental ignition of gas and to remove potential sources of ignition from the area.  PGW employees used the required rotary drills in a manner to minimize sparking and used non-sparking equipment when it became possible.  The Company asserted that the act of drilling bar holes is consistent with Bulletin 212, was performed in compliance with Bulletin 212, and is accepted industry practice.  Furthermore, in 2008, the Commission’s Gas Safety Division’s (“GSD”) Chief of Gas Safety instructed PGW that the Company must drill bar holes in all outdoor gas leak investigations and thus, PGW modified its standard practice to include drilling bar holes whenever it conducted outdoor gas leak investigations.  

d. Counts 6-8 – PGW contended that neither Bulletin 212 nor federal nor state regulations require a utility to contact the electric service provider as a matter of course.  The CFR required that a utility take reasonable measures to eliminate or minimize all sources of ignition.  Since 2001, when GSD began its review of the Company’s procedures, the GSD had not indicated that Bulletin 212 had this omission.  To the best of the knowledge of PGW, the GSD has not issued an advisory stating that gas utilities should or must notify electric providers in such circumstances.  Consequently, PGW contended the Company’s actions were consistent with applicable laws and regulations which did not cause or contribute to the leak and did not endanger the public.  
e. Counts 9-14 – PGW contended that the four employees at issue were following PGW procedure set forth in PGW Bulletin 212 and denied that the Company failed to comply with its own emergency procedures requiring PGW personnel to protect life over property when the four PGW employees entered the Subject Property to obtain further gas readings.  PGW contended that PGW Bulletin 212 explicitly prioritized life over property.  PGW also asserted that the number of counts does not reflect the number of alleged infractions.  PGW contended that the primary mission of the four employees that entered the Subject Property was to save lives; ventilating the premises was secondary.  Based on their observations of the Subject Property they were checking for occupants and while checking ventilated the premises.  It is the Company’s best practice to be absolutely certain that no occupants remain inside endangered premises before deciding not to search the premises.  The Company denied that a policy requiring PGW personnel to enter a building to evacuate the premises is inconsistent with the CFR because at this incident the employees were searching for occupants which protects life first and then property.  PGW denied that it violated 49 CFR 
§ 192.615 and asserted that it complied with each and every requirement of this regulation.  PGW asserted that its actions were reasonable, consistent with applicable laws and regulation, did not cause or contribute to the accident and did not jeopardize or endanger the public.
f. Counts 15-20 – PGW admitted that two employees entered the premises to perform gas level detection and shut off the valve to stop the flow of gas that could have been a potential source of ignition.  PGW further admitted that two employees entered the premises and one obtained a reading of 80% gas at the ground floor exterior doorway.  The procedures followed by these employees were to protect lives first.  PGW denied that the actions of these employees did not comply with PGW emergency procedure or applicable regulatory requirements.  Rather, PGW contended that the actions of these employees were legal, commendable and did not cause or contribute to the accident or endanger the public and were consistent with all applicable laws and regulations.
g. Counts 21-22 – PGW denied that the Company violated its emergency procedures requiring employees to exchange information among themselves.  PGW Bulletin 212 requires such an exchange of information on location and in this instance PGW employees complied with Bulletin 212 and communicated with each other about the 70% LEL reading.  The communication between the PGW employees did not cause or contribute to increased danger to the public.

h. Counts 23-24 – PGW denied that its emergency procedure fails to require prompt and effective response to reduce or shut down the Company’s distribution system when needed to isolate a leak.  PGW contended its written emergency procedures provide specific instructions and directions to appropriate and qualified personnel to deal with emergency situations in an expeditious and safe manner.  These procedures were reviewed by GSD prior to the incident and no indication of deficiency was communicated.  PGW also denied that there was any undue delay in the operation of the main line valves needed to isolate and reduce pressure in the failed main.  PGW contended that based on its data of on-scene personnel and dispatch, PGW’s response was timely, in accordance with Company goals, consistent with all applicable laws and regulations and did not cause or contribute to the accident or endanger the public.

i. Counts 25-26 – PGW lacked sufficient information to respond to these allegations and therefore denied them.

j. Counts 27-32 – PGW denied that it failed to establish adequate written procedures consistent with applicable regulatory requirements since the written procedures do not contain explicit provisions requiring the Company to contact the electric service provider to shut off electric supply.  PGW contended that the CFR contains no such requirement and that the Company’s written emergency procedures provide specific instructions and directions to appropriate and qualified personnel to deal with emergency situations in an expeditious and safe manner.  These procedures were reviewed by GSD prior to the incident and no deficiency was communicated.  PGW asserted that its actions were appropriate with all applicable laws and regulations and did not cause or contribute to the accident or endanger the public.

k. Counts 33-35 – PGW denied that its emergency procedures are deficient because they fail to contain explicit requirements that PGW employees first detect gas readings at doorways, etc. prior to entering a building during an outside leak investigation.  PGW contended that its Bulletin 212 includes explicit requirements that PGW employees should first seek to detect gas readings at structural openings prior to entering a building.  PGW also denied that its emergency procedures are inconsistent with regulatory requirements by not requiring the protection of life first.  PGW contended that its emergency procedures clearly prioritize life over property by requiring PGW first responders to first evacuate occupants inside endangered premises before engaging in ventilation designed to avoid property damage.  Additionally, PGW Bulletin 212 requires PGW first responders to protect people first and only then property by requiring them to check inside the premises for gas readings, evacuate if gas levels are 40% LEL or higher and to contact dispatch.  PGW contended its personnel followed appropriate procedure and thus, the Company’s actions were reasonable, consistent with all applicable laws and regulations, did not cause or contribute to the accident and did not endanger the public.   
l. Counts 36-37 – PGW denied that its procedures were deficient in that they do not require immediate emergency pipeline pressure reductions whenever a main with less than 35 psig but greater than inches water column is identified as leaking.  PGW contended that the Company has established written procedures that minimize the hazard resulting from a gas pipeline emergency and these procedures provide for emergency shutdown and pressure reduction in any section of the operator’s pipeline system necessary to minimize hazards to life or property and to make safe any actual or potential hazard to life or property.  PGW contended that to automatically notify Pressure Force personnel of lower pressure leak situations would be a poor usage of resources since a vast majority (88%) of PGW mains have a less than 10 psig and pressure normally cannot be reduced in such situations.  PGW asserted that the cited CFR section does not require the alleged policy; rather, the regulations only require that an operator have a procedure to minimize the hazard resulting from a gas pipeline emergency, including procedures to shutdown and reduce pressure to minimize hazards to life or property.  PGW contended that its notification procedure was reasonable, consistent with applicable laws and regulations, did not cause or contribute to the accident and did not endanger the public. 
m. Counts 38-41 – PGW denied that the cited CFR and Pa. Code sections require a written procedure on how to recognize “controllable” and “non-controllable” incidents and the necessary actions to be taken.  PGW asserted that neither the federal nor state regulations referenced contain such requirements.  PGW contended that it was in full compliance with the federal and state regulations in that the Company has written procedures to minimize the hazard resulting from a gas pipeline emergency which provide for receiving, identifying and classifying notices which require immediate response by the operator, prompt and effective response to each type of emergency and actions directed toward protecting life first and then property.  PGW contended that its actions did not cause or contribute to the accident and did not endanger the public.

n. Count 42 – PGW denied that its emergency procedures were deficient because they do not contain an explicit requirement to maintain constant communications with the GSD Inspectors on site during a reportable incident investigation.  The cited federal regulation requires that an operator’s written procedure must provide for “[e]stablishing and maintaining adequate means of communication with appropriate fire, police and other public officials.”  PGW Answer at 31, ¶ n (citation omitted.)  PGW contended that its written emergency procedures contain such directives.  PGW also contended that its personnel had extensive interaction with GSD Inspector Terry Cooper-Smith as well as police and fire personnel at all times during the incident.  PGW asserted that its actions were reasonable, consistent with all applicable laws and regulations, did not cause or contribute to the accident and did not endanger the public.

o. Counts 43-44 – PGW denied that it did not have a written procedure to establish a safety perimeter for leak investigations and emergency responses.  Rather, PGW asserted that it has a written procedure that specifically directs the establishment of a safety perimeter in the event of a gas emergency on a laminated card entitled, “Actions to be Taken to Protect People and Property,” which is provided to all PGW response personnel in compliance with all federal and state regulations.  PGW asserted that its procedures were reasonable, consistent with all applicable laws and regulations, did not cause or contribute to the accident and did not endanger the public.
p. Counts 45-46 – PGW denied that it did not have a written procedure that established minimum training criteria and operator qualifications for work crew members who respond to emergency situations.  PGW contended that it maintains such written criteria which meet the requirements of federal and state regulations.  PGW asserted that it trains and supervises its personnel to ensure that they are prepared to respond to emergency situations and the Company verifies that the training is effective.  PGW contended that its procedures, training, and training verification were reasonable, consistent with all applicable laws and regulations, did not cause or contribute to the accident and did not endanger the public.

q. Counts 47-48 – PGW denied that it failed to maintain valve inspection reports and/or records for Valve No. 788 for calendar years 2007 and 2008.  PGW asserted that it maintained and continues to maintain these records in compliance with federal and state regulations.  PGW asserted that its records are legally sufficient, in compliance with all applicable laws and regulation, in such condition as to not cause or contribute to the accident, and in such condition as to not endanger the public.

r. Counts 49-50 – PGW denied that it failed to prepare and/or follow written maintenance procedures for remediation of Valve No. 788 and that the valve was found to be inoperable on July 30, 2010, and February 25, 2011.  Rather, Valve No. 788 was serviced and rendered operational on July 30, 2010, and remained operable.  It wasn’t until the date of the incident, January 18, 2011, that PGW determined Valve No. 788 was in need of repair again.  PGW denied that Valve No. 788 was found inoperable on February 25, 2011.  PGW contended that its procedures and practices concerning valve remediation were reasonable, consistent with all applicable laws and regulations, did not cause or contribute to the accident and did not endanger the public.

s. Counts 51-52 – PGW denied that it failed to service Valve No. 788 at least once each calendar year.  PGW contended that its records show Valve No. 788 was inspected and serviced at least once each calendar year as required by federal and state regulations.  PGW provided specific dates of the service history of Valve No. 788 in 2011, all of which were provided to GSD inspectors during their investigation.  PGW contended there were alternate valves available as alternatives to Valve No. 788 to satisfy federal regulatory requirements.  PGW asserted that its procedures and practices concerning valve inspection and service were consistent with all applicable laws and regulations, did not cause or contribute to the accident and did not endanger the public.

t. Count 53-224 – PGW denied that it failed to take prompt remedial action to correct Valve No. 788 at any time but specifically during the seven months referenced in the allegation.  PGW asserted that its records show the Company took timely and appropriate measures to inspect, service and repair Valve No. 788 in July 2010, and provided alternate valves to control the gas when Valve No. 788 was not fully operational.  PGW contended that it operated in full compliance with 49 CFR § 192.757 and that its records were provided to GSD inspectors during their investigation.  PGW asserted that its actions concerning valve remediation did not cause or contribute to the accident and did not endanger the public.
u. Counts 225-227 – PGW denied that it failed to have and/or follow a written qualification program since it failed to ensure that a crew member was qualified to perform the covered task.  PGW also denied that this crew member was unqualified to perform the task and was not directed and observed by a qualified individual to perform the task which failed to adequately protect the public.  PGW contended that it fully complied with its own procedures and regulatory requirements.  PGW asserted that it had an Operator Qualification Plan (“OQP”) and training procedure in place and all personnel were trained and were operating pursuant to those policies.  These policies and plans were all reviewed by GSD prior to the incident and copies were provided to GSD during their investigation. PGW provided detailed information as to how on site personnel were trained and the qualified experience of personnel.  PGW contended that its training, supervision and qualifications of personnel are reasonable, consistent with applicable laws and regulation and neither the procedures, nor the training and supervision of personnel caused or contributed to the accident and did not endanger the public or the Company’s own personnel.
v. Counts 228-229 – PGW denied that it did not train specific personnel to ensure that they were knowledgeable of emergency procedures, to verify that the training was effective; and thus, PGW failed to adequately protect the public.  The specific crew member was trained by PGW in all of the tasks he performed during the incident.  PGW contended its training, supervision and qualification policies are fully consistent with regulatory requirements and did not cause or contribute to the accident and did not endanger public safety or the safety of PGW personnel.


w. Counts 230-264 – PGW denied that it failed to conduct appropriate post-accident drug testing consistent with regulatory requirements.  PGW contended that it made a good faith attempt to comply with the rules and appropriately apply them because the Company tested all personnel who were available to be tested and who were in charge of the leak investigation, could have caused the accident, or could have contributed to the accident.  PGW asserted that it set criteria and tested those who met the criteria and were available for testing at the time of the incident and immediately after.  PGW contended that eighteen of its employees rather than the alleged 38 personnel, were on site during the leak investigation and before the explosion was recorded.  PGW asserted that its post-accident drug testing was reasonable, consistent with applicable laws and regulations, in no way caused or contributed to the accident and did not endanger the safety of the public or PGW personnel.

x. Counts 265-299 – PGW denied that it failed to conduct appropriate post-accident alcohol testing consistent with regulatory requirements.  PGW contended that it made a good faith attempt to comply with the rules and apply them appropriately.  PGW asserted that it tested all available personnel who were in charge of the leak, could have caused the accident or could have contributed to the accident.  PGW asserted that it set criteria and tested those who met the criteria and were available for testing at the time of the incident and immediately after.  PGW contended that eighteen of its employees rather than the alleged 38 personnel, were on site during the leak investigation and before the explosion was recorded.  PGW asserted that its post-accident alcohol testing was reasonable, consistent with applicable laws and regulations, in no way caused or contributed to the accident and did not endanger the safety of the public or PGW personnel.

y. Counts 300-334 – PGW denied that it failed to prepare and maintain on file records for post-accident testing.  PGW contended that it prepared and maintained on file a record stating the reasons the post-accident testing was not promptly administered to the appropriate employees.  PGW’s Director of Risk Management maintained files which recorded and maintained the reasons for the post-accident testing which the Company did administer.  PGW contended that eighteen of its employees rather than the alleged 38 personnel, were on the scene during the leak investigation and before the explosion was recorded.  PGW asserted that its post-accident testing records were reasonable, consistent with applicable laws and regulations, in no way caused or contributed to the accident and did not endanger the safety of the public or PGW personnel.

By New Matter PGW alleged that the Complaint did not establish a cause of action for violation of any state or federal code or statute.  PGW distinguished between applicable PUC statutes and regulations and any alleged deficiencies in operation by the PUC’s Gas Safety Division (“GSD”).  PGW contended the GSD alleged deficiencies lacked proper notice to the Company on questions of quality, completeness or inconsistency with the Code of Federal Regulations, the Pennsylvania Code or any other applicable regulation or statute.  PGW also stated that the Commission has previously refrained from imposing civil penalties on the Company.  See example, PUC Prosecutory Staff v. Philadelphia Gas Works, PUC Docket No. M-2009-1505419, 2009 Pa. PUC LEXIS 1341 (Opinion and Order entered July 23, 2009); Malisa Alexander v. Philadelphia Gas Works, Docket No. C-20077389, 2008 Pa. PUC LEXIS 1038 (Order entered November 6, 2008).  PGW Answer at ¶ 9.  PGW requested that the claims in the Complaint be dismissed with prejudice. 
On February 27, 2012, counsel for I&E filed a Reply to New Matter.  The reply by I&E disputed that the complaint lacked a sufficient cause of action and asserted that the 334 counts set forth violations, which if proven establish sufficient causes of action against the Company.  I&E further denied the claims in the New Matter pertaining to whether the Complaint provides specificity to the applicable statutes and regulations to which PGW is to comply.  I&E also emphasized that any recovery of the requested civil penalty not be imposed through Commission regulated rates of the Company.  I&E requested that the Answer and New Matter be dismissed and its Complaint be sustained.

A Hearing Notice dated May 31, 2012, scheduled an Initial Telephonic Prehearing Conference for Wednesday, June 6, 2012, in this matter.  The Hearing Notice acknowledged that Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) Angela T. Jones was the presiding officer.  

On June 4, 2012, counsel for PGW filed an Unopposed Motion for Continuance of this Matter (“Motion”).  The Motion indicated that the parties had engaged in serious settlement negotiations in compliance with the Commission’s policy.  See 52 Pa.Code §§ 5.231 and 69.1201.  The Motion requested at least 30 additional days to determine whether settlement was achievable.  Counsel for PGW affirmed that I&E joined in the request.

By Order dated June 5, 2012, the ALJ granted the Motion.  

A Hearing Notice dated June 8, 2012, cancelled the June 6, 2012, telephonic prehearing conference and rescheduled the Initial Telephonic Prehearing Conference for Friday, July 13, 2012, in this matter.  

A Prehearing Conference Order dated July 2, 2012, was issued to the parties by the undersigned ALJ to provide procedure and direction in preparation for the scheduled telephonic prehearing conference.  

On July 6, 2012, counsel for PGW filed an Unopposed Motion for Continuance (“Motion 2”).  Motion 2 reported that the parties had been engaged in serious settlement negotiations and a settlement in principle was reached.  PGW requested that a 45-day extension to further continue the proceeding was needed to prepare and complete the agreement and the supporting documentation.  Motion 2 acknowledged that I&E joined the request.  

By Prehearing Order #3 dated July 6, 2012, the undersigned ALJ granted Motion 2. 

A Hearing Notice dated July 18, 2012, rescheduled an Initial Telephonic Prehearing Conference for Thursday, September 13, 2012, and cancelled the July 13, 2012 prehearing conference.  A third Unopposed Motion for Further Continuance of the Prehearing Conference was filed by PGW on September 7, 2012 (“Motion 3”).  PGW again requested a 45-day extension to finalize all documentation.  Motion 3 was granted by Prehearing Order #4 of the undersigned dated September 11, 2012.  

A Hearing Notice dated September 11, 2012, canceled the September 13, 2012, Prehearing Conference and Rescheduled the Telephonic Prehearing Conference for Wednesday, November 28, 2012.  

On November 14, 2012, a Joint Petition for Settlement (“Settlement Agreement”) was electronically filed with the Commission to resolve the Complaint.  The Settlement Agreement was accompanied by Statements in Support (“SIS”) on behalf of PGW and I&E as well as an Appendix A, which provided more detail of the operational improvements to be implemented and to support references and data cited in the Settlement Agreement.  The record to the proceeding closed on November 14, 2012, the date the Settlement Agreement was filed.  This matter is ripe for decision.  
III. TERMS OF THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
PGW agrees to pay a total settlement amount of $500,000 in accordance with the following allocation:
i. PGW will pay to the Commission, by certified check (or other agreed method), a civil settlement amount of $400,000 made to the “Commonwealth of Pennsylvania” and presented to the Commission within thirty (30) days of the entered date of the Commission Order approving the Settlement Agreement.  PGW shall not make any claim whatsoever for recovery of any portion of this $400,000 amount in any future proceeding before the Commission; and
ii. PGW will contribute $100,000 within one (1) year of the issuance of the Commission’s Order approving the Settlement Agreement to the existing smoke alarm program operated by the Fire Prevention Division of the PFD.  This program is operated in partnership with The Citizens for Fire Prevention Committee (“CFPC”), a non-profit corporation formed by the PFD for education and fundraising.  This continuing program is funded by donations to CFPC.  PGW has not previously provided funds to this program.

Settlement Agreement at 20-21, ¶ 22.  In addition to the settlement amount PGW has implemented or agreed to implement modifications concerning its operating procedures (“Operational Modifications”) which address the actions sought by I&E in the “requested relief” portion of the Complaint.  The parties agreed that PGW has already implemented many of the changes to its operating procedures sought by I&E and these changes address all non-monetary action items in the Complaint’s prayer for relief.  Settlement Agreement at 21, ¶ 23.  A summary of the Operational Modifications made or to be made by PGW are as follows:
 
a. PGW has re-qualified all work crews as to PGW’s procedures for not entering a building when more than 40% LEL is discovered inside the building;
b. PGW has revised a written procedure that establishes the parameters and steps needed to be taken by PGW field supervisors in notifying the electric utility to shut-off the electric power during emergency situations;

c. PGW has coordinated a meeting between PGW, PECO Electric, and PFD to address the electric power shut-off procedure, as set forth in the preceding paragraph;

d. PGW has revised its written procedures by reflecting in a bulletin existing minimum training criteria and operator qualifications for work crew members that respond to emergency situations, which had formerly been reflected in its Operator Qualification training materials;

e. PGW has retrained and re-qualified all work crews as to personal protection equipment needed to be worn and equipment required at an excavation site and for emergency response;
f. PGW has revised its emergency procedures to describe how and when an Incident Command System is established, retrained all emergency responders and field supervisors to address the Incident Command System and coordinated a meeting between PGW and the PFD to review Incident Command requirements;

g. PGW has revised its written procedures by reflecting in a bulletin its existing risk management policy of establishing a PGW liaison to maintain constant communication with the Commission Gas Safety Inspectors on site during a reportable incident investigation;

h. PGW has revised its existing procedures to expedite the dispatch of qualified pressure force personnel when an incident involves or is suspected of involving a high pressure (10-35 psig) main;

i. PGW has verified that it will continue to follow its policy of annually inspecting all main control valves and street regulator stations valves, continuing to identify all non-operable emergency valves and continuing to provide a schedule to make such valves operable;

j. PGW has revised its existing written procedure that establishes a safety perimeter for leak investigations and emergency response and has re-qualified PGW emergency responders and field supervisors as to these procedures;

k. PGW has revised its written procedure to require appropriate categories of PGW emergency responders and field supervisors to receive National Incident Management System (“NIMS”) training and a schedule of this training;

l. PGW has revised its existing written procedure to include information on how to recognize a controllable and non-controllable incident and appropriate actions that should be taken;

m. PGW has re-qualified all work crews, emergency responders and field supervisors as to protecting the public, PGW workers, and property during emergencies, with emphasis on the requirements that responders not enter a building with 40% LEL or higher;
n. PGW is revising its written procedures to define and distinguish ventilating a building from ventilating a street and to stop ventilating when a building has gas at or above the explosive range;

o. PGW has reviewed and modified its written procedures to require Pressure Force to respond to:

a) Every “Prospect Emergency” (high priority) leak or odor complaint call/report which is located on a street block where there is a high pressure main (above 10 psig) installed;

b) For all other leaks or odor complaint calls/reports, where a PGW emergency responder believes that a high pressure main is or could be involved.

p. PGW has reviewed its Operator Qualification Program to determine whether its program required modification to address issues described above;
q. PGW has modified its emergency procedures to include a section related to “blowing gas”;

r. PGW has re-trained its Pressure Force work crews regarding the use of critical valves; and

s. PGW will confirm to the Commission within sixty (60) days of the date of the Order approving the Settlement Agreement that it has consolidated emergency procedures into one manual that covers responsibilities for all departments involved.

Settlement Agreement at 21-25, ¶ 23.  


In consideration of PGW’s settlement payment amount allocated as directed by the Commission and modifications to the operating procedures of PGW, I&E agreed to forbear from instituting any further complaint relating to PGW’s conduct as described in the Settlement Agreement or Complaint.  None of the provisions of the Settlement Agreement are to be used as an admission or finding of fact or liability or culpability of unlawful behavior by PGW in any subsequent proceeding.  Settlement Agreement at 25, ¶ 24.


Nothing in the Settlement Agreement shall adversely affect the Commission’s authority to receive and resolve any informal or formal complaints filed by any affected party with respect to the incident.  The proposed settlement is made without any admission against, or prejudice to, any position any party may adopt in any subsequent litigation whether the instant proceeding or any subsequent proceeding, except that no further civil penalty may be imposed or any other actions, terms or conditions directed by the Commission for any action or inaction identified in the Complaint.  Settlement Agreement at 25, ¶ 25.



The parties agreed that PGW may propose to the Commission that it may allocate a greater portion of the $500,000 total settlement amount to programs that would provide new funding to assist Philadelphia citizens with natural gas or fire safety.  Settlement Agreement at 29, 
¶ 34.  A modification of the Settlement Agreement to the allocation of the total $500,000 settlement amount that changes the amount to be paid as a civil settlement amount and the amount to be contributed to a specified safety program is the only modification to be binding on the parties.  Settlement Agreement at 30, ¶ 35.  This exception to modification of the Settlement Agreement applies whether the Commission in its discretion increases the allocation to safety programs and decreases the civil settlement amount or vice-versa so long as the total settlement amount is no greater than $500,000.  Settlement Agreement at 30, ¶ 35.  In the event of any other modification, addition or deletion of any terms or condition to the Settlement Agreement or failure of the Commission to approve the Settlement Agreement as proposed (except the binding modification aforementioned is permitted), any party may elect to withdraw from the Settlement Agreement by filing a response to the Commission Order within twenty (20) days of the date of the entered Order.  If there is a timely response to the Order filed, none of the provisions of the Settlement Agreement shall be considered binding upon the parties.  Settlement Agreement at 30, ¶ 35.
IV. PGW’S ALTERNATE MONETARY TERMS TO RESOLVE COMPLAINT 
The parties both contend that the Settlement Agreement is in the public interest, resolves the allegations in this Complaint and completely settles this matter without further litigation.  PGW submitted that the conduct of its employees and senior officials during the core incident to this Complaint was lawful, appropriate and in compliance with the Public Utility Code, Commission regulations and the U.S. Department of Transportation’s gas safety regulations.  PGW also believed that its emergency procedures and directives at the time of the incident complied with applicable state and federal regulations and directives from the PUC’s GSD.  PGW after its own investigation immediately following the incident, identified areas of its operations and procedures that could be improved, clarified or better communicated.
  Consequently, as part of the settlement the Company has committed to improvements or confirmed that they have already been made.

In addition to assessment of its operations and procedures for clarification and improvement, the Company has agreed through the Settlement Agreement to make a financial payment totaling $500,000.  $400,000 would be attributed to a civil settlement amount and $100,000 would be made as a contribution to an existing PFD program to assist in installation of smoke detectors by homeowners.  PGW suggests that the $100,000 contribution can be allocated differently at the discretion of the Commission.  

PGW requests that the Joint Settlement be revised concerning the allocation of funds.  PGW agreed to the amount of the financial payment:

(1) to bring closure to the event;
(2) to demonstrate compromise with I&E concerning the claims raised against the Company;

(3) to forbear from drawing findings of fact and conclusions of law  regarding the conduct of PGW;
(4) to conserve the resources of PGW and the Commission; and
(5) to permit both parties to move forward in a cooperative manner, focusing attention on the safe, adequate and reliable natural gas service for PGW’s customers.
PGW SIS at 3-4.  However, PGW reserved its right to challenge the allocation of the $500,000 to ask the Commission to allocate less funding to the General Fund as a civil settlement amount and compensate by the allocation of more funding to natural gas or fire safety programs.  Consequently, PGW proposes as an alternative:

(1) $100,000 contribution to the PFD’s smoke detector program;
(2) $107,000 for furnace repair or replacement of damaged or malfunctioning heaters for low income citizens of Philadelphia;
(3) $36,000 for special safety information bill stuffers to residential customers describing safe natural gas safety practices in the home; 
(4) $107,000 for a program to improve public education on gas safety.  This program would be an adjunct to a current program offered by the PFD and aimed at educating fourth and fifth graders in elementary and middle schools in Philadelphia.
PGW SIS at 4 (footnote omitted).  The Commission, in its discretion, could direct PGW to remit the remaining $150,000 as a civil settlement amount.  In the alternative, the entire $500,000 could be used to fund helpful programs for the benefit of PGW customers and Philadelphia citizens.  PGW SIS at 4-5. 
V.
DISCUSSION

A.
Applicable Legal Standard
The Commission has the power and duty to enforce the requirements of the Public Utility Code.  66 Pa.C.S. § 501(a).  The Commission delegated the authority of enforcement of the Public Utility Code regarding gas safety laws and regulations to I&E.  Implementation of Act 129 of 2008; Organization of Bureaus and Offices, Docket No. M-2008-2071852 (Order entered August 11, 2011).

The purpose of this Complaint is to determine whether the acts and determinations not to act by PGW on January 18, 2011, in the Tacony section of Philadelphia, concerning the incidents around the Subject Property and all consequences thereto violated the Public Utility Code, Commission regulations and federal regulations regarding the safety of PGW’s natural gas distribution operations and procedures.  PGW disputed whether it violated the Public Utility Code, Commission regulations and federal regulations.  After extensive discovery and prior to any evidentiary hearings, I&E and PGW reached a settlement regarding the allegations set forth in I&E’s Complaint. 


Pursuant to Commission regulations at 52 Pa.Code § 5.231, it is Commission policy to promote settlements.  Settlements lessen the time, expenses and resources of the parties and the Commission that may be otherwise spent to litigate the case.  The Commission has indicated that settlement results are often preferable to those achieved in fully litigated proceedings.  52 Pa.Code § 69.401.



To accept a settlement, the Commission must determine whether the proposed terms and conditions are in the public interest.  Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n v. Philadelphia Gas Works, Docket M-00031768 (Order entered March 7, 2005); Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n v. York Water Co., Docket No. R-00049165 (Order entered October 4, 2004); Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n v. C.S. Water and Sewer Assoc., 74 Pa. PUC 767 (1991).  For the following reasons I find the Settlement Agreement, which has terms endorsed by both parties to this proceeding, is in the public interest.

B.
Analysis of Public Interest for Settlement Agreement


The total payment in the Settlement Agreement of $500,000 is the maximum civil penalty applicable under 66 Pa.C.S. § 3301(c), at the time of the incident gas leak and explosion.  It is the total amount that the Commission could have collected if each alleged violation were to be found successfully proven by I&E.  As I&E pointed out Act 2012-11 increased the maximum civil penalty for any gas pipeline safety violation from $500,000 to $2,000,000 and took effect 60 days after it was approved on February 14, 2012.  Since the incident central to this Complaint, the Torresdale gas leak and explosion took place on January 18, 2011, which is before the increase in civil penalty took effect, the lesser value of $500,000 for a civil penalty was in effect at the time of the incident.  PGW SIS at 6 footnote 1.  PGW stated that if the matter were litigated, the maximum amount may not have been realized.  See PGW SIS at 8-9.  I&E stated that if the matter were litigated, no more could have been assessed than that which is proposed through the Settlement Agreement.  I&E SIS at 6.  In any event, to obtain this amount and to avoid the time, costs, and resources of litigation is beneficial.  


Twenty percent (20%) of the total settlement payment—$100,000 = $500,000 x 20%– is proposed to be a contribution by PGW to the PFD’s existing smoke detector program.  I&E stated with emphasis that this condition is a potential lifesaving venture that will directly impact PGW’s residential customers.  I&E SIS at 2, 6-7.  PGW stated that the Settlement establishes funding for a program that enhances fire safety for the citizens of Philadelphia and thus, enhances public benefit.  PGW SIS at 10.  PGW also noted that the PFD smoke detector program is operated by the PFD in partnership with a non-profit corporation, CFPC.  The effort is funded by donation and seeks to “save lives by providing smoke alarms free of charge to people who would not otherwise have them and meet certain criteria.  The smoke detectors feature lithium batteries that last 10 years.”  PGW SIS at 11.
This condition serves the public as this Complaint at its core is about safety of the public which includes, the employees of the utility, the customers of the utility, the PFD and other emergency responders outside of the utility and the citizens of Philadelphia.  This condition benefits each segment of the public previously mentioned.  It is also agreed that this condition has the potential of saving lives.  Throughout the Complaint, the allegations emphasized actions that value life over property.  All of these characteristics of this condition support the premise that it is in the public interest.

Through the non-monetary conditions of the Settlement Agreement, PGW has satisfactorily addressed all of the issues raised by the Complaint.  PGW SIS at 8, 9.  Indeed PGW has satisfied 19 requested operational changes designed to improve or clarify PGW’s emergency procedures set forth in the Complaint by means of the remedies of the non-monetary conditions to the Settlement Agreement.  PGW SIS at 8; I&E SIS at 6.  The implementation of the procedural modifications and clarifications will deter unsafe practices and improve emergency response procedures.  I&E SIS at 6.   
To successfully resolve the operational and procedural issues raised in the Complaint without the expenditure of time, resources and costs of litigation is beneficial to the public interest.  It is agreed as stated by PGW that the Settlement Agreement, “puts this [incident] behind … to move forward cooperatively with GSD and I&E to work together to insure the safest and most reliable natural gas distribution system for the City of Philadelphia.”  PGW SIS at 10.  I&E stated that the Settlement Agreement, “achieves all of the goals sought to be attained through the filing of [the I&E Complaint] in an administratively efficient and economically effective manner, resulting in palpable modification and additions to existing utility operating procedures that will … benefit the public in general…”  I&E SIS at 6.  I agree.  


The Settlement Agreement was accomplished through the cooperative work of PGW with I&E and GSD.  PGW SIS at 11.  Approval of the Settlement Agreement will avoid the time, expense and delay involved in a formal litigated proceeding.  PGW SIS at 11.  The expenses include discovery, preparation of witness testimony, incident and reiterated action items, hearings, briefs, possible exceptions and possible appeals.  I&E SIS at 7.  The Settlement Agreement alleviates these actions and the “Company is now free to concentrate on the implementation of the many new and/or improved safety policies.”  I&E SIS at 7.  The efforts of both parties to bring this to closure with limited expense and to concentrate on implementing safety policies that have been modified and clarified based upon the “lessons learned” from this incident is just and reasonable; and thus in the public interest.

C.
Just and Reasonableness of Civil Settlement Payment and Total Financial Payment


The Commission adopted and utilized standards for determining whether a particular enforcement outcome resulting in a monetary civil penalty from alleged violations is in the public interest.  Rosi v. Bell Atlantic Pennsylvania, Inc., et al., 2000 Pa. PUC LEXIS 5, Docket No. C-00992409 (Order entered March 16, 2000)(regarding enforcement of telecommunications regulations).  The Commission subsequently determined that all violations of the Public Utility Code and Commission regulations, not just slamming cases, shall be subject to review under the standards in Rosi.  Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n v. NCIC Operator Services, M‑00001440 (December 21, 2000). 


By policy statement in November 2007, the Commission itemized factors that it may consider in determining whether to approve settlements that include civil penalties.  Final Policy Statement for Litigated and Settled Proceedings Involving Violations of the Public Utility Code and Commission Regulations, Docket No. M-00051875 (order entered November 30, 2007).  The Commission adopted the policy statement in its regulations at 52 Pa.Code § 69.1201, adopted December 21, 2007, effective December 22, 2007.  The statement sets forth what the Commission considers in evaluating litigated and settled proceedings that involve violations of the Public Utility Code and Commission regulations.  It reads as follows:
69.1201. Factors and standards for evaluating litigated and settled proceedings involving violations of the Public Utility Code and Commission regulations—statement of policy.

(a)  The Commission will consider specific factors and standards in evaluating litigated and settled cases involving violations of 66 Pa. C.S. (relating to Public Utility Code) and this title.  These factors and standards will be utilized by the Commission in determining if a fine for violating a Commission order, regulation or statute is appropriate, as well as if a proposed settlement for a violation is reasonable and approval of the settlement agreement is in the public interest.

(b)  Many of the same factors and standards may be considered in the evaluation of both litigated and settled cases.  When applied in settled cases, these factors and standards will not be applied in as strict a fashion as in a litigated proceeding.  The parties in settled cases will be afforded flexibility in reaching amicable resolutions to complaints and other matters so long as the settlement is in the public interest.  The parties to a settlement should include in the settlement agreement a statement in support of settlement explaining how and why the settlement is in the public interest.  The statement may be filed jointly by the parties or separately by each individual party.

(c)  The factors and standards that will be considered by the Commission include the following:

(1)  Whether the conduct at issue was of a serious nature.  When conduct of a serious nature is involved, such as willful fraud or misrepresentation, the conduct may warrant a higher penalty.  When the conduct is less egregious, such as administrative filing or technical errors, it may warrant a lower penalty.

(2)  Whether the resulting consequences of the conduct at issue were of a serious nature.  When consequences of a serious nature are involved, such as personal injury or property damage, the consequences may warrant a higher penalty.

(3)  Whether the conduct at issue was deemed intentional or negligent.  This factor may only be considered in evaluating litigated cases.  When conduct has been deemed intentional, the conduct may result in a higher penalty.

(4)  Whether the regulated entity made efforts to modify internal practices and procedures to address the conduct at issue and prevent similar conduct in the future.  These modifications may include activities such as training and improving company techniques and supervision.  The amount of time it took the utility to correct the conduct once it was discovered and the involvement of top-level management in correcting the conduct may be considered.

(5)  The number of customers affected and the duration of the violation.

(6)  The compliance history of the regulated entity which committed the violation.  An isolated incident from an otherwise compliant utility may result in a lower penalty, whereas frequent, recurrent violations by a utility may result in a higher penalty.

(7)  Whether the regulated entity cooperated with the Commission’s investigation.  Facts establishing bad faith, active concealment of violations, or attempts to interfere with Commission investigations may result in a higher penalty.

(8)  The amount of the civil penalty or fine necessary to deter future violations.  The size of the utility may be considered to determine an appropriate penalty amount.

(9)  Past Commission decisions in similar situations.

(10)  Other relevant factors.

The above factors are used by the Commission to evaluate whether a settlement is reasonable and whether the settlement should be approved as in the public interest.  52 Pa.Code 
§ 69.1201(a).  The evaluation of the applicable factors for settlements is not performed in as strict a fashion as in a litigated proceeding.  52 Pa.Code § 69.1201(b).   Settling parties are afforded flexibility since they have reached amicable resolution to the complaint at issue, so long as the settlement is found to be in the public interest.  52 Pa.Code § 69.1201(b).


Both PGW and I&E have addressed the factors pursuant to 52 Pa.Code 
§ 69.1201(c) in their respective statements in support.  Below, is the presentation of the factors presented by the parties and the assessment of the factors by the undersigned ALJ.


The first factor addresses whether the conduct at issue was of a serious nature.  52 Pa.Code § 69.1201(c)(1).  “When conduct of a serious nature is involved, such as willful fraud or misrepresentation, the conduct may warrant a higher penalty.  When the conduct is less egregious, such as administrative filing or technical errors, it may warrant a lower penalty.”  52 Pa.Code § 69.1201(c)(1).

I&E stated, “the act of responding to an emergency such as that which unfolded here is, in and of itself, inherently serious in nature and was considered in arriving at the penalty to be assessed.”  I&E SIS at 8.  I&E also commented that the Settlement Agreement considered the seriousness of the incident and the terms and conditions are designed to “enhance the Company’s response and the overall safety and reliability of its service.”  I&E SIS at 8.  While PGW contended that “the nature of the conduct of the Company was and remains in dispute,” PGW does submit that “the terms of the Settlement [Agreement] … [are] plainly reasonable.”  PGW SIS at 12.  I note that in Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v. PECO Energy Company, Docket No. M-2012-2205782, at 9 (Opinion and Order entered November 8, 2012), the Commission stated, “[W]e believe that PECO’s actions… resulting in an explosion and fire, constitute conduct of a serious nature.”  See similarly, Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v. UGI Utilities, Inc., Docket No. C-2012-2308997, (Initial Decision issued October 31, 2012) (incident involved a gas explosion where life was lost and fire resulted in property damage found significant and warranted higher penalty).  Given the significance of the incident, the fact that there was loss of life, and procedures and operations were questioned, it is found that the incident and PGW’s involvement in it warrant a higher penalty.  

The second factor addresses the consequences of the conduct at issue.  In this case, the natural gas explosion killed one individual and five PGW employees were injured, four hospitalized and one treated and released.  I&E Complaint, at 8, ¶ 12r.  The gas explosion and resulting fire destroyed the Subject Property, and damaged several surrounding buildings and six vehicles including a PGW truck responding to the reported gas leak.  I&E Complaint, at 8, ¶ 12.  The consequences here are steep in significance and it is difficult to imagine more severity.  PGW acknowledged that the accident was tragic but noted that there were no findings that PGW’s actions either caused or contributed to the incident and disputed that the accident was caused by violations of the Public Utility Code, PUC regulations or federal regulations.  PGW SIS at 12.  However, as I&E noted, there is no dispute that the consequences were tragic, causing property damage, personal injury and death.  I&E SIS at 8.  It is concluded that the seriousness of the consequences resulting from the January 18, 2011, incident warrants a higher penalty.  


The third factor addresses whether the conduct was negligent or intentional.  Both I&E and PGW state determination of intentional conduct is applicable to litigated matters.  52 Pa.Code § 69.1201(c)(3).  Because this matter is presented by both parties as a joint settlement, determination of intentional conduct is not applicable.  I&E SIS at 9, PGW SIS at 13, ¶ 3.  I agree and will not consider whether the conduct of PGW at issue was intentional.

The fourth factor address whether remedial actions were taken by the utility to modify internal practices and procedures to prevent similar conduct in the future.  Both PGW and I&E present an extensive review of operations and procedures that have been implemented or are pending implementation.  
PGW has presented significant detail of its operations and procedures in Appendix A attached to the Settlement Agreement which include, among others:

1. re-qualification of work crews for entering a building with more than 40% LEL detected;
2. revised procedures on ventilation of buildings and streets;  minimum training criteria and operator qualification for PGW responders to emergencies;
3. revision of emergency procedures describing how and when incident command system is established;
4. verification of annual inspection of all main control valves and street regulator stations valves;
5. appropriate personnel to receive National Incident Management System training; and

6. revision and modification to procedures on response of the Pressure Force work crew when leak and/or odor detected.
Appendix A-1 through 18.  I&E commended the conduct by PGW to voluntarily work in concert with GSD to address each and every operational issue raised in the Complaint as an outward showing of the Company’s commitment to public gas safety.  I&E SIS at 9.  PGW noted that safety is the Company’s ultimate priority and that it continually works to improve these efforts. PGW pursued immediately after the incident an exhaustive analysis of all aspects of the incident to modify and improve its internal practices and procedures in a variety of areas without prompting from the Commission.  PGW SIS at 13, ¶ 4.  It is found that the remedial actions taken by PGW should lessen the penalty.

The fifth factor addresses the number of customers affected and the duration of the violation.  As abovementioned the natural gas explosion injured a total of six PGW employees, one fatally.  The explosion and fire resulted in the Subject Property being destroyed and damaged several surrounding buildings and six vehicles including a PGW truck responding to the reported gas leak.  Other customers sustained service interruptions.  It is concluded that the number of customer affected by the January 18, 2011, incident warrants a higher penalty.

The sixth factor reviews the compliance history of the regulated utility.  Neither the Public Utility Code nor the Commission’s regulations require a public utility to provide constantly flawless service.  The Public Utility Code at 66 Pa.C.S. § 1501 requires public utilities to provide reasonable and adequate service, not perfect service.  Perfect service is not required by the Public Utility Code; and thus, perfect compliance cannot be required.  Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v. UGI Utilities, Inc., Docket No. C-2012-2308997, at 23 (Initial Decision issued October 31, 2012).

I&E did not go into detail as to the compliance history of PGW but stated that it “recognizes the Respondent’s good faith efforts to comply with the Commission’s regulations.”  I&E SIS at 10.  PGW stated that the Company, “makes good faith efforts to comply with the Public Utility Code, the PUC and [federal] regulations, and submits that it has an excellent safety record with the Commission.”  PGW SIS at 14, ¶ 6.  It is concluded that PGW’s compliance history should not result in a higher penalty.

The seventh factor reviews whether the regulated utility cooperated with the Commission.  As abovementioned, PGW voluntarily worked in concert with GSD regarding procedures and operations.  PGW stated that it cooperated with I&E and GSD during both the pre- and post-Complaint process.  PGW SIS at 14, ¶ 7.  I&E does not dispute that the Company has been cooperative.  It is found that PGW’s cooperative efforts with the Commission should result in a lesser penalty.

The eighth factor assesses whether the penalty amount is sufficient to deter future violations.  PGW has agreed to a total payment of $500,000, $400,000 of which is to be treated as a civil settlement amount and directed to the General Fund.  The remaining $100,000 is to be contributed within one year of approval of the Settlement Agreement to an existing smoke alarm program operated by the PFD in partnership with the CFPC.  The seriousness of the incident with the result of one fatality, injury to five employees and damage to property, the Subject Property destroyed and six vehicles, is severe.  However, I&E has noted that the proposed total payment is the maximum that could have been realized at the time of the incident corresponding to the effectiveness of the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa.C.S. § 3301(c)(an increase to the maximum civil penalty from $500,000 to $2,000,000 did not become effective until 60 days after February 14, 2012).  See supra, at 25.  See also, Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v. PECO Energy Company, Docket No. M-2012-2205782,  at 11(Opinion and Order entered November 8, 2012) (Commission considered the serious nature of the allegations of the case to increase the penalty proposed by settlement as a deterrent to future violations and past Commission decisions in similar situations).  

Although the Settlement Agreement proposes $100,000 to be made as a contribution to a program to distribute smoke alarms to Philadelphians, and not a strict monetary payment to the General Fund, the Commission has ordered allocation to specific efforts in the past.  In Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v. Columbia Gas of PA, Inc., the Commission directed a civil penalty to the Dollar Energy Fund to assist Columbia’s customers in recognition of hard economic times for ratepayers.  Docket No. C-20077249, 2009 Pa. PUC LEXIS 1777, *11-12 (Opinion and Order entered September 4, 2009).  It is agreed as both parties have stated, the crucial issue regarding this incident is gas safety.  The allocation of the payment to the distribution of smoke detectors has the potential to save both lives and property.  This allocation also serves a benefit to a significant nexus of the public affected by the incident, that being, PGW employees, PGW customers, Philadelphians of all ages including emergency responders, businesses, property owners, and residents.  Lastly, this allocation is a means to enhance safety for Philadelphians.  It is concluded that a larger total payment than that proposed and allocated by the Settlement Agreement is not necessary to deter future violations.  
The ninth factor considers whether the settlement at issue is consistent with past Commission decisions.  PGW stated that to the best of the Company’s knowledge, the Settlement Agreement is consistent with past Commission decisions.  PGW SIS at 14, ¶ 9.  I find that the Settlement Agreement is consistent with past Commission decisions.  See Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v. Columbia Gas of PA, Inc., Docket No. 
C-20077249, 2009 Pa. PUC LEXIS 1777 (Opinion and Order entered September 4, 2009); and Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v. PECO Energy Company, Docket No. M-2012-2205782 (Opinion and Order entered November 8, 2012). 
The tenth and final factor reviews any other relevant factors.  As stated by I&E, “[R]esolution by settlement … will ensure that the Company will immediately implement any and all operational modifications that have yet to be implemented as [presented] … instead of at the end of what could [have been] protracted litigation.”  I&E SIS at 11.  It is important that the parties have amicably agreed to resolve this matter by Settlement Agreement so that implementation can occur more expeditiously than if the matter were litigated.

PGW has pointed out that PGW is unique in that it is not an investor owned utility but municipally owned; in affect its “‘shareholders’ [are] the citizens of Philadelphia.”  PGW SIS at 15 (footnote omitted).  PGW provided examples where the Commission in the past had modified its normal rules of imposing penalties on this utility because of this reality.  Id, see examples, Malisa Alexander v. PGW, Docket No. C-20077389 (Order entered November 6, 2008); Thea Jones v. PGW, Docket No. F-2009-2138362 (Order entered December 16, 2010); Nia Peterson v. PGW, Docket No. F-2010-2215379 (Order entered January 27, 2012).  PGW contended that the imposition of a substantial fine here would be inconsistent with the Commission’s general approach concerning PGW.  Id.  Thus, PGW suggested that for a financial payment to be appropriate and consistent with the Commission’s prior actions, it should be allocated to “provide benefits to PGW customers, who are also its ‘shareholders.’”  Id.  
It is noted that in Malisa Alexander v. PGW, Docket No. C-20077389 (Order entered November 6, 2008); Thea Jones v. PGW, Docket No. F-2009-2138362 (Order entered December 16, 2010); and Nia Peterson v. PGW, Docket No. F-2010-2215379 (Order entered January 27, 2012) the Commission refrained from ordering civil penalties because PGW is a municipally owned utility and ultimately the civil penalties, if levied, would be paid by the citizens of Philadelphia.  The result in this case is a Settlement Agreement where both parties agreed to present terms which include the levying of a civil settlement payment.  Furthermore, a significant term of the Settlement Agreement is, “a civil settlement amount of $400,000 made to the ‘Commonwealth of Pennsylvania’ and presented to the Commission within thirty (30) days of the entered date of the Commission Order approving the Settlement Agreement.  PGW shall not make any claim whatsoever for recovery of any portion of this $400,000 amount in any future proceeding before the Commission.”  Settlement Agreement at 20, ¶ 22 (Emphasis added).  Consequently the result of a penalty here can be distinguished from Malisa Alexander v. PGW and its progeny in that the Company cannot pass on the civil settlement agreement as a company expense in any proceeding before the Commission.  Hence, the term prohibits the Company from passing on the civil settlement payment as a rate expense to be borne by the ratepayers.  
The instant proceeding is more comparable to Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n, Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement v. UGI Utilities, Inc., Docket No. C-2012-2308897, Joint Motion of Chairman Robert Powelson and Vice Chairman John F. Coleman, Jr. (adopted January 24, 2013) where the Commission stated, “While no amount of money could ever atone for the lives lost or property destroyed, UGI must pay the maximum penalty this Commission is allowed to levy under the Public Utility Code, $500.000.”  at 2 (footnotes omitted).  The difference between the two utilities is that UGI is not municipally owned while PGW is.  I do not find that this difference is decisive for a modification to the civil settlement payment presented in the Settlement Agreement.
I agree with the allocation provided by the Settlement Agreement.  It considers the citizens of Philadelphia and provides benefits to save from injury lives and property of Philadelphians.  I find this nexus to the public interest at issue in this case reasonable and appropriate.  In comparison, for the reasons articulated below, I do not find the alternative allocation suggested by PGW appropriate.

D.
Analysis of Public Interest for PGW Alternative Allocation
PGW proposed an alternative allocation which has a total payment of $500,000 yet distributes monetary contributions to different natural gas and safety programs and allocates less to the General Fund as a civil settlement amount.  See supra, at 23-24.  The programs and the corresponding allocations are:

1. $100,000 contribution to the PFD’s smoke detector program (as proposed in the Settlement Agreement);
2. $107,000 for furnace repair or replacement of damaged or malfunctioning heaters for low income citizens of Philadelphia;
3. $36,000 for special safety information bill stuffers to residential customers describing safe natural gas safety practices in the home; 
4. $107,000 for programs to improve public education on gas safety.  This program would be an adjunct to a current program offered by the PFD and aimed at education fourth and fifth graders in elementary and middle schools in Philadelphia.
I am excluding from consideration the smoke detector program as it is considered in my analysis of the Settlement Agreement as proposed by both parties.  However, the remaining three allocations are not considered in the Settlement Agreement.  I find these allocation problematic for several reasons.



The repair or replacement of damaged or malfunctioning heaters for low income citizens of Philadelphia presents a benefit to only a subset of citizens affected by this incident.  First, it is not specific to gas furnaces or heaters.  Although this is a technicality, as it is proposed the allocation could be for any type of furnace or heater; gas or electric or any alternative energy.  As this incident critically concerned gas safety, I do not find it reasonable for the benefit to ameliorate other energy usage.  This incident was not related to economics as the damage to life and property was not contingent upon income but proximity to a gas main.  I find it is laudable for the Company to pursue a benefit to a subset of persons affected by the incident, i.e. low income persons.  However, I do not find that the record substantiates making this distinction.  It is in fact a benefit that would provide some assistance to low income individuals in need of furnace or heater repair or replacement.  This incident affected all citizens of Philadelphia, PGW and its employees.  This incident should yield benefits to a wider section of the public than low income Philadelphians and of those, the individuals that need assistance in repair or replacement of a heater or furnace.  Because of these preferences ingrained in the proposal, I do not find it reasonable.



Concerning the contribution to improve public education of gas safety to fourth and fifth graders in Philadelphia schools, although I find the sentiment behind the proposal admirable, it suffers from the same liability as the furnace and heater program.  How do you justify limiting education of gas safety to just fourth and fifth graders when this incident affected all Philadelphians?  Don’t all Philadelphians need to have access to education in gas safety?  Again, ingrained in the proposed allocation is a benefit to a subset of individuals, yet a larger group of individuals were affected by the incident at issue.  I do not find it adequate or reasonable to make the distinct benefit to a small subset of individuals through this allocation.



Regarding the contribution to safety information as bill stuffers for residential customers, not only does it single out just residential customers and not all customers of PGW, but it may be problematic in differentiating this allocation from the Company’s business expense in providing adequate natural gas service to its customers.  
It is noted in the Settlement Agreement that the total settlement payment is not to be recovered by the Company in any future proceeding before the Commission.  Industry practice by energy distribution companies is to provide tips of energy safety be it through bill stuffers, websites, advertisement campaigns in flyers, billboards, newspapers.  52 Pa.Code § 69.2703(a)(4) states, “In determining just and reasonable rate levels for PGW, the Commission will consider… level of operating and other expenses in comparison to similarly situated utility enterprises.”  To include this allocation of natural gas safety bill stuffers may cause the amount of the expense to be considered in the operations of the Company in a future Commission proceeding.
PGW also suggested that the Commission can provide any different allocation than presented by the Settlement Agreement to programs that benefit PGW customers and Philadelphia citizens.  I do not recommend that the Commission act on its own discretion in this endeavor as there is no record support for what it may in its discretion propose.  If the Commission were to pursue this endeavor, it would need to act under tentative order to allow the parties to comment on the record.  Such a procedure would further delay the implementation of the Settlement Agreement, supplant the efforts of the parties and reduce the advocated benefits cited by the parties that the settlement is reasonable and in the public interest.  Consequently, I do not find that this method of allocation is reasonable or in the public interest.                  
E.
Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, it is found that the Joint Petition for Settlement is in the public interest, is consistent with the Public Utility Code and Commission regulations and it is recommended for adoption without modification.  Consequently, it is recommended that the formal Complaint by I&E at Docket No. C-2011-2278312 be marked closed once the Joint Petition for Settlement is approved and the appropriate documents have been filed in compliance with Commission regulations and appropriate remittances have by dispensed by the Company.  
V.
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1. The Commission has jurisdiction over the subject matter and parties to this proceeding.
2. The Commission has the power and duty to enforce the requirements of the Public Utility Code.  66 Pa.C.S. § 501(a).

3. The Commission delegated its authority with regard to enforcement of gas safety laws and regulations to I&E.  Implementation of Act 129 of 2008; Organization of Bureaus and Offices, Docket No. M-2008-2071852 (Order entered August 11, 2011).

4. Commission policy promotes settlements.  52 Pa.Code § 5.231.


5.
To determine whether the parties' settlement should be approved, one must decide whether the settlement promotes the public interest.  See Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n  v. Philadelphia Gas Works, Docket M-00031768 (Order entered March 7, 2005); Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n v. York Water Co., Docket No. R-00049165 (Order entered October 4, 2004); Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n v. C.S. Water and Sewer Associates, 74 Pa. P.U. C. 767 (1991); Pa. Pub. Util. Comm’n v. Philadelphia Electric Company, 60 Pa. P.U.C. 1 (1985).

6.
The Settlement Agreement submitted by PGW and I&E is in the public interest.
VI.
ORDER


THEREFORE,



IT IS ORDERED:

1. That the formal complaint filed on December 15, 2011, by the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission’s Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement against Philadelphia Gas Works at C-2011-2278312 is sustained.

2. That the Joint Petition for Settlement filed on November 14, 2012, between the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission’s Bureau of Investigation and Enforcement and Philadelphia Gas Works at C-2011-2278312 is hereby approved and adopted.

3. That Philadelphia Gas Works shall pay a civil settlement payment in the amount of $400,000 as provided for in the Public Utility Code, 66 Pa.C.S. § 3301, by certified check or money order, within thirty (30) days of entry of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission’s final Opinion and Order to:

Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission

P.O. Box 3265

Harrisburg, PA 17105-3265

4. That the civil settlement payment in the amount of the certified check or money order in the above paragraph shall not be recovered by Philadelphia Gas Works in any future proceeding before the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission.

5. That a $100,000 contribution be made by Philadelphia Gas Works within one (1) year of the issuance of the Commission’s Order approving the Settlement Agreement to the existing smoke alarm program operated by the Fire Prevention Division of the Philadelphia Fire Department in partnership with The Citizens for Fire Prevention Committee, a non-profit corporation formed by the Philadelphia Fire Department for education and fundraising.  
6. That Philadelphia Gas Works shall comply with all directives, conclusions and recommendations in the Joint Petition for Settlement as approved and adopted in this Initial Decision that are not the subject of individual ordering paragraphs as fully as if they were the subject of specific ordering paragraphs.

7. That Philadelphia Gas Works cease and desist from violations of the Public Utility Code and the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission’s regulations.

8. That a copy of this Initial Decision be served upon the Financial and Assessment Chief, Office of Administrative Services.
9. That the Secretary’s Bureau mark Docket No. C-2011-2278312 closed upon payment of the above $400,000 civil settlement payment at ordering paragraph 3 and notification of the $100,000 contribution as specified in ordering paragraph 5 above.
Dated:
January 15, 2013



___________________________







Angela T. Jones








Administrative Law Judge

� 	Mr. Simms was the signatory person to the Complaint.  The members of the prosecution of the Complaint are:  Wayne T. Scott, Esquire; Michael L. Swindler, Esquire; and Carrie B. Wright, Esquire. 


� 	There are two versions of the Complaint - a public version and a non-public version.  Generally, the public version excluded the names of the PGW employees involved.


� 	The request amounts to a 30-day extension to file an Answer.


� 	There were two versions to the Answer; a public version and a non-public version.  On February 9, 2012, PGW filed a corrected Answer that redacted some of the proprietary information that erroneously remained public and to include some information in redacted form that was omitted from the public version.


� 	All of the operational modifications are specifically presented in detail in Appendix A which accompanied the Settlement Agreement.  References to Appendix A for the specific modification detail have been omitted.  


� 	I&E and GSD assisted the Company in identifying areas in operation and procedures that could be improved, clarified or better communicated.






